# HODGE THEORY AND COMPLEX ALGEBRAIC GEOMETRY II

CLAIRE VOISIN Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu

Translated by Leila Schneps



PUBLISHED BY THE PRESS SYNDICATE OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE The Pitt Building, Trumpington Street, Cambridge, United Kingdom

> CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS The Edinburgh Building, Cambridge CB2 2RU, UK 40 West 20th Street, New York, NY 10011-4211, USA 477 Williamstown Road, Port Melbourne, VIC 3207, Australia Ruiz de Alarcón 13, 28014 Madrid, Spain Dock House, The Waterfront, Cape Town 8001, South Africa

> > http://www.cambridge.org

© Cambridge University Press 2003

This book is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press.

First published 2003

Printed in the United Kingdom at the University Press, Cambridge

*Typeface* Times 10/13 pt System  $\Delta T_E X 2_{\mathcal{E}}$  [TB]

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 0 521 80283 0 hardback

# Contents

0	Introduction			page 1
I	The Topology of Algebraic Varieties			17
1	The Lefschetz Theorem on Hyperplane Sections			19
	1.1	Morse theory		20
		1.1.1	Morse's lemma	20
		1.1.2	Local study of the level set	23
		1.1.3	Globalisation	27
	1.2	Application to affine varieties		28
		1.2.1	Index of the square of the distance function	28
		1.2.2	Lefschetz theorem on hyperplane sections	31
		1.2.3	Applications	34
	1.3	3 Vanishing theorems and Lefschetz' theorem		
	Exercises			39
2	Lefschetz Pencils			41
	2.1	Lefschetz pencils		42
		2.1.1	Existence	42
		2.1.2	The holomorphic Morse lemma	46
	2.2 Lefschetz deg		hetz degeneration	47
		2.2.1	Vanishing spheres	47
		2.2.2	An application of Morse theory	48
	2.3	Application to Lefschetz pencils		53
		2.3.1	Blowup of the base locus	53
		2.3.2	The Lefschetz theorem	54
		2.3.3	Vanishing cohomology and primitive cohomology	57
		2.3.4	Cones over vanishing cycles	60
	Exer	rcises		62

# Contents

3	Monodromy			67
	3.1	The n	nonodromy action	69
		3.1.1	Local systems and representations of $\pi_1$	69
		3.1.2	Local systems associated to a fibration	73
		3.1.3	Monodromy and variation of Hodge structure	74
	3.2	The c	ase of Lefschetz pencils	77
		3.2.1	The Picard–Lefschetz formula	77
		3.2.2	Zariski's theorem	85
		3.2.3	Irreducibility of the monodromy action	87
	3.3	3.3 Application: the Noether–Lefschetz theorem		89
		3.3.1	The Noether–Lefschetz locus	89
		3.3.2	The Noether–Lefschetz theorem	93
		rcises		94
4	The Leray Spectral Sequence			98
	4.1	Defin	ition of the spectral sequence	100
		4.1.1	The hypercohomology spectral sequence	100
		4.1.2	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	107
		4.1.3	5 1 1 1 1 1 1	109
	4.2	Delig	ne's theorem	113
		4.2.1	The cup-product and spectral sequences	113
			The relative Lefschetz decomposition	115
		4.2.3	Degeneration of the spectral sequence	117
	4.3		nvariant cycles theorem	118
		4.3.1	Application of the degeneracy of the Leray-spectral	
			sequence	118
		4.3.2	Some background on mixed Hodge theory	119
		4.3.3	The global invariant cycles theorem	123
		rcises		124
			of Hodge Structure	127
5	Transversality and Applications			129
			plexes associated to IVHS	130
		5.1.		130
		5.1.		133
		5.1.	1	137
	5.2		holomorphic Leray spectral sequence	138
		5.2.	$\lambda$ $\Gamma$ $P,q$	138
		5.2		141
	5.3		l study of Hodge loci	143
		5.3.		143
		5.3.	.2 Infinitesimal study	146

		5.3.3	The Noether–Lefschetz locus	148
		5.3.4	A density criterion	151
	Exercises			153
6	Hodge Filtration of Hypersurfaces			156
	6.1	Filtratic	on by the order of the pole	158
		6.1.1	Logarithmic complexes	158
		6.1.2	Hodge filtration and filtration by the order of	
			the pole	160
		6.1.3	The case of hypersurfaces of $\mathbb{P}^n$	163
	6.2	IVHS o	f hypersurfaces	167
		6.2.1	Computation of $\overline{\nabla}$	167
		6.2.2	Macaulay's theorem	171
		6.2.3	The symmetriser lemma	175
	6.3	First ap	plications	177
		6.3.1	Hodge loci for families of hypersurfaces	177
		6.3.2	The generic Torelli theorem	179
	Exercises			184
7	Normal Functions and Infinitesimal Invariants			188
	7.1	The Jac	obian fibration	189
		7.1.1	Holomorphic structure	189
		7.1.2	Normal functions	191
		7.1.3	Infinitesimal invariants	192
	7.2 The Abel–Jacobi map			193
		7.2.1	General properties	193
		7.2.2	Geometric interpretation of the infinitesimal	
			invariant	197
	7.3	The cas	e of hypersurfaces of high degree in $\mathbb{P}^n$	205
		7.3.1	Application of the symmetriser lemma	205
		7.3.2	Generic triviality of the Abel-Jacobi map	207
	Exercises		212	
8	Nori's Work		215	
	8.1 The connectivity theorem		217	
		8.1.1	Statement of the theorem	217
		8.1.2	Algebraic translation	218
		8.1.3	The case of hypersurfaces of projective	
			space	223
	8.2	Algebra	nic equivalence	228
		8.2.1	General properties	228
		8.2.2	The Hodge class of a normal function	229
		8.2.3	Griffiths' theorem	233

Contents

	8.3	Application of the connectivity theorem		
		8.3.1	The Nori equivalence	235
		8.3.2	Nori's theorem	237
	Exer	cises		240
III	Alge	Algebraic Cycles		
9	Cho	w Groups	5	245
	9.1	Constru	iction	247
		9.1.1	Rational equivalence	247
		9.1.2	Functoriality: proper morphisms and flat	
			morphisms	248
		9.1.3	Localisation	254
	9.2 Intersection and cycle classes			256
		9.2.1	Intersection	256
		9.2.2	Correspondences	259
		9.2.3	5	261
		9.2.4	Compatibilities	263
	9.3	Exampl		269
		9.3.1	e i	269
		9.3.2		269
		9.3.3	Chow groups of blowups	271
		9.3.4	Chow groups of hypersurfaces of small degree	273
		cises		275
10			heorem and its Generalisations	278
	10.1	Varietie	s with representable CH <sub>0</sub>	280
		10.1.1	Representability	280
		10.1.2	Roitman's theorem	284
		10.1.3	Statement of Mumford's theorem	289
	10.2		och–Srinivas construction	291
			Decomposition of the diagonal	291
			Proof of Mumford's theorem	294
		10.2.3		298
	10.3	General		301
		10.3.1	Generalised decomposition of the diagonal	301
		10.3.2	An application	303
		cises		304
11			onjecture and its Generalisations	307
	11.1		s with $p_g = 0$	308
		11.1.1	Statement of the conjecture	308
		11.1.2	Classification	310

viii

11.1.3	Bloch's conjecture for surfaces which are not		
	of general type	313	
11.1.4	Godeaux surfaces	315	
11.2 Filtratio	ons on Chow groups	322	
11.2.1	The generalised Bloch conjecture	322	
11.2.2	Conjectural filtration on the Chow groups	324	
11.2.3	The Saito filtration	327	
11.3 The cas	11.3 The case of abelian varieties		
11.3.1	The Pontryagin product	328	
11.3.2	Results of Bloch	329	
11.3.3	Fourier transform	336	
11.3.4	Results of Beauville	339	
Exercises		340	
References		343	
Index		348	

1

# The Lefschetz Theorem on Hyperplane Sections

This chapter is devoted to a presentation of Morse theory on affine varieties, and its application to the proof of the famous Lefschetz theorem on hyperplane sections, which is the following statement.

**Theorem 1.1** Let X be a projective n-dimensional variety, and let  $j : Y \hookrightarrow X$  be a hyperplane section such that U = X - Y is smooth. Then the restriction map

$$j^*: H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z})$$

is an isomorphism for k < n - 1 and is injective for k = n - 1.

This Lefschetz theorem follows from the vanishing of the cohomology with compact support in degree > n of a smooth *n*-dimensional affine variety. Thus, most of this chapter concerns the study of the topology of affine varieties; the most general result we present is the following (see Andreotti & Frankel 1959; Milnor 1963).

**Theorem 1.2** A smooth affine variety X of (complex) dimension n has the homotopy type of a CW-complex of (real) dimension  $\leq n$ .

This statement is obtained by applying the results of Morse theory to the square of the distance function  $h_0(x) = d(x, 0)^2$  on *X*, where the metric is deduced from a Hermitian metric on the ambient space. The essential point is the following result.

**Proposition 1.3** *The Morse index of the function*  $h_0$  *at a non-degenerate critical point is at most equal to n.* 

Theorem 1.2 then follows from this proposition and the following basic theorem of Morse theory.

**Theorem 1.4** If  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  is a Morse function, and  $\lambda$  is a critical value corresponding to a unique critical point of index r, then the level set  $X_{f \leq \lambda+\epsilon}$  has the homotopy type of the union of the level set  $X_{f \leq \lambda-\epsilon}$  with a ball  $B^r$ .

We give an introduction to Morse theory in the first section of this chapter, and this theorem is proved there. In the second section, we study the case of the square of the distance function on affine varieties, and deduce the Lefschetz theorem on hyperplane sections. Finally, in the last section, we give another proof of this result using Hodge theory and the vanishing theorems. This proof gives the result for rational cohomology under the hypothesis that Y and X are smooth.

### 1.1 Morse theory

### 1.1.1 Morse's lemma

Let *X* be a differentiable variety, and let *f* be a differentiable function on *X*. Assume that everything is  $C^{\infty}$ , although in fact the result still holds under weaker hypotheses. We say that  $0 \in X$  is a critical point of *f* if df(0) = 0. The value  $f(0) \in \mathbb{R}$  is then called a critical value of *f*.

Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$  be local coordinates on X centred at 0. The vector fields  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  give a basis of  $T_{X,x}$  for every x in a neighbourhood of 0.

**Definition 1.5** *The Hessian of* f *at the point* 0 *is the bilinear form on*  $T_{X,0}$  *defined by* 

$$\operatorname{Hess}_{0} f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\right) = \left(\frac{\partial^{2} f}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j}}\right)(0).$$

The formula for the derivatives of a composition of maps (the chain rule) shows immediately that  $\text{Hess}_0 f$  does not depend on the choice of coordinates, since 0 is a critical point of f. Moreover, the symmetry of partial derivatives shows that  $\text{Hess}_0 f$  is symmetric.

**Definition 1.6** We say that  $0 \in X$  is a non-degenerate critical point of f if the quadratic (or symmetric bilinear) form  $\text{Hess}_0 f$  on  $T_{X,0}$  is non-degenerate.

Such a quadratic form Q can be diagonalised in a suitable basis  $u_1, \ldots, u_n$  of  $T_{X,0}$ , i.e. there is a basis such that

$$Q(u_i, u_j) = \delta_{ij} \epsilon_i$$

with  $\epsilon_i = \pm 1$ .

**Definition 1.7** The Morse index of f at 0, written  $\operatorname{ind}_0 f$ , is the index of the quadratic form  $\operatorname{Hess}_0 f$ , i.e. the number of  $\epsilon_i$  equal to -1 in any diagonalisation as above.

The non-degenerate critical points are classified by their index up to diffeomorphism, as shown in the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.8** (Morse's lemma) If 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of a function f, then in a neighbourhood of 0, there exist coordinates  $x_1, ..., x_n$  centred at 0 such that for  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)$ , we have

$$f(x) = f(0) - \sum_{i=1}^{r} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=r+1}^{n} x_i^2$$

with  $r = \operatorname{ind}_0 f$ .

The following result is a first corollary of proposition 1.8.

**Corollary 1.9** If 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of f, then 0 is an isolated critical point of f, and f(0) is an isolated critical value of f restricted to a neighbourhood of 0.

This corollary also follows immediately from the fact that  $\text{Hess}_0 f$  can be viewed as the differential of the map  $\chi$  defined (using coordinates) by

$$x \mapsto \chi(x) = df_x \in (\mathbb{R}^n)^*.$$

If this differential is an isomorphism, i.e. when the Hessian is non-degenerate, the local inversion theorem shows that in a neighbourhood of 0, the set  $\chi^{-1}(0)$  of critical points of *f* is reduced to {0}.

*Proof of proposition 1.8* We proceed by induction on *n*. If n > 0, then clearly we can find a hypersurface  $Y \subset X$  passing through 0, defined in the neighbourhood of 0, and smooth at 0, such that  $f_{|Y}$  admits 0 as a non-degenerate

critical point. Indeed, for this last condition to be satisfied, it suffices that the non-degenerate quadratic form  $\text{Hess}_0 f$  remain non-degenerate on the hyperplane  $T_{Y,0} \subset T_{X,0}$ . By hypothesis, there thus exist coordinates  $x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}$  on *Y* such that for  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}) \in Y$ , we have

$$f(x) = f(0) - \sum_{i=1}^{r'} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=r'+1}^{n-1} x_i^2$$

with  $r' = \text{ind}_0 f_{|Y}$ . (Here r' can be equal to r or r - 1.) The functions  $x_i$  can be extended to functions also called  $x_i$  on X. The function

$$f - f(0) - \left(-\sum_{i=1}^{r'} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=r'+1}^{n-1} x_i^2\right)$$

on X is thus  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ , and vanishes along Y.

Hadamard's lemma then shows that if *t* is an equation defining *Y*, there exists a  $C^{\infty}$  function *g* such that

$$f - f(0) - \left(-\sum_{i=1}^{r'} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=r'+1}^{n-1} x_i^2\right) = tg.$$

The fact that 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of f is then expressed by the fact that the function g vanishes at 0 and has non-zero differential at 0.

**Lemma 1.10** If g(0) = 0, and if the functions  $x_1, ..., x_{n-1}$ , t give a system of coordinates centred at 0, then there exist  $C^{\infty}$  functions  $\alpha_i$ , i = 1, ..., n - 1 and  $\phi$  such that

$$g(x_1,...,x_{n-1},t) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i \alpha_i + t\phi.$$

Temporarily admitting this lemma, let us now set

$$x_i' = x_i + \epsilon_i \alpha_i t$$

for  $i \le n - 1$ , where  $\epsilon_i$  is equal to -1 for  $i \le r'$  and to 1 otherwise. Then for  $x = (x_i, t)$ , we have

$$f(x) = f(0) - \sum_{i=1}^{r'} {x'}_i^2 + \sum_{i=r'+1}^{n-1} {x'}_i^2 + t^2 \psi,$$

where  $\psi$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  function. The fact that 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of f then immediately implies that  $\psi(0) \neq 0$ , so in a neighbourhood of 0, we

can write  $t^2 \psi = \pm (x'_n)^2$ . Clearly the  $x'_i$  form a system of coordinates on *X* centred at 0 in which *f* has the desired expression (possibly after permuting the coordinates).

*Proof of lemma 1.10* We show it by induction, applying Hadamard's lemma. The lemma holds on *Y* by the induction hypothesis, so there exist  $C^{\infty}$  functions  $\alpha_i$  on *X* such that  $g - 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i \alpha_i$  vanishes on *Y*. Then, by Hadamard's lemma, we have

$$g = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i \alpha_i + t\phi.$$

Now let *X* be a topological space, and  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  a continuous function.

**Definition 1.11** We say that f is an exhaustion function if for every element  $M \in \mathbb{R}$ , the closed subset  $f^{-1}(]-\infty, M]) \subset X$  is compact.

Such a map is in particular proper, and the fibres  $X_a := f^{-1}(a)$  are compact. In what follows, we will write  $X_{\leq M}$  for the subset  $f^{-1}(]-\infty, M]$ ) for every  $M \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $X_{[M_1,M_2]}$  for the subset  $f^{-1}([M_1, M_2])$ , where  $M_1 \leq M_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ . These sets are called level sets.

If *f* is a differentiable exhaustion function having only non-degenerate critical points, then every critical value corresponds to a finite number of critical points, and the set of critical values is discrete by corollary 1.9. In particular, there exists only a finite number of critical values in each interval  $]-\infty$ , M],  $M \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Such a function is called a Morse function. We sometimes require that every fibre  $X_{\lambda}$  have at most one critical point, and that the indices  $r(\lambda)$  for a critical value  $\lambda$  increase with  $\lambda$ .

#### 1.1.2 Local study of the level sets

Let us consider the function

$$f(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{r} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=r+1}^{n} x_i^2$$

defined on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let  $B^\eta$  denote the ball of radius  $\eta$  centred at 0. Let  $B^r_{\epsilon} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ 

and  $S_{\epsilon}^{r-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  denote the ball and the sphere defined by

$$B_{\epsilon}^{r} := \left\{ (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \in B^{\eta} \middle| x_{i} = 0, \ i > r, \ \sum_{i \leq r} x_{i}^{2} \leq \epsilon \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}_{\leq \epsilon}^{n},$$
  
$$S_{\epsilon}^{r-1} := \left\{ (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \in B^{\eta} \middle| x_{i} = 0, \ i > r, \ \sum_{i \leq r} x_{i}^{2} = \epsilon \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}_{\leq -\epsilon}^{n}.$$
  
(1.1)

We easily see that for  $\epsilon \leq \eta^2$ ,  $B_{\epsilon}^r < B^{\eta}$ , for  $\epsilon = \eta^2$ , we have

$$S_{\epsilon}^{r-1} = \partial B_{\epsilon}^r = B_{\leq -\epsilon}^{\eta}.$$

Let *B* denote the ball of radius  $\sqrt{2\epsilon}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and *S* its boundary, the sphere of radius  $\sqrt{2\epsilon}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We propose to show the following result.

**Proposition 1.12** There exists a retraction by deformation of  $B_{\leq \epsilon}$  onto the union  $B_{\leq -\epsilon} \cup_{S_{\epsilon}^{r-1}} B_{\epsilon}^r$ , which induces a retraction by deformation of  $S_{\leq \epsilon}$  onto  $S_{\leq -\epsilon}$ .

More precisely, we will exhibit a homotopy

$$(H_t)_{t\in[0,1]}: B_{\leq\epsilon} \to B_{\leq\epsilon}$$

such that

- (i)  $H_1 = \text{Id}, H_t = \text{Id on } B_{\leq -\epsilon} \bigcup_{S_t^{r-1}} B_{\epsilon}^r$ .
- (ii)  $H_0$  has values in  $B_{\leq -\epsilon} \bigcup_{S_{\epsilon}^{r-1}} B_{\epsilon}^r$ .
- (iii) On  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ , the homotopy  $H_t$  is given by a trivialisation of the fibration  $f: S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]} \to [-\epsilon, \epsilon]$ , i.e. a diffeomorphism

$$C = (C_0, f) : S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]} \cong S_{-\epsilon} \times [-\epsilon, \epsilon],$$

and by the retraction by deformation  $K'_t$  of the segment  $[-\epsilon, \epsilon]$  onto the point  $-\epsilon$  given by  $K'_t(\alpha) = -(1-t)\epsilon + t\alpha$ .

We have the following lemma.

**Lemma 1.13** For  $\epsilon = \eta^2$ , there exists a homotopy

$$(R_t)_{t\in[0,1]}: B^{\eta}_{\leq\epsilon} \to B^{\eta}_{\leq\epsilon}$$

such that  $R_1 = \text{Id}$ , and  $R_t$  is the identity on the ball  $B_{\epsilon}^r$  defined in (1.1). Finally, Im  $R_0$  is contained in the ball  $B_{\epsilon}^r$ , so  $R_0$  is a retraction onto  $B_{\epsilon}^r$ .

Note that as  $B_{\leq -\epsilon}^{\eta} = S_{\epsilon}^{r-1}$ , the above homotopy is the identity on the level subset  $B_{\leq -\epsilon}^{\eta}$ .

*Proof* Writing  $x = (X_1, X_2)$  with  $X_1 = (x_1, ..., x_r)$  and  $X_2 = (x_{r+1}, ..., x_n)$ , consider the map  $R_t : B^\eta \to B^\eta$  given by

$$R_t(x) = (X_1, tX_2).$$

We will now show that up to increasing the radius of the ball, we can construct a retraction by deformation as above, which moreover preserves the boundary. Let us return to the ball *B* of radius  $\sqrt{2\epsilon}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and its boundary *S*, the sphere of radius  $\sqrt{2\epsilon}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Lemma 1.14** The restriction of the map f to S does not admit any critical points in the set

$$S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]} := \{ x \in S \mid -\epsilon \le f(x) \le \epsilon \}.$$

**Proof** A critical point of f in S is such that the functions  $f = -f_1 + f_2$ and  $|| ||^2 = f_1 + f_2$  have proportional differentials, where  $f_1(x) = ||X_1||^2$  and  $f_2(x) = ||X_2||^2$ . This implies that  $df_1$  and  $df_2$  are proportional, and clearly this is not possible unless  $df_1$  or  $df_2 = 0$ . But then  $f_1$  or  $f_2 = 0$ , so  $|f| = || ||^2$ . Now, this is impossible on  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ , since on S, we have  $|| ||^2 = 2\epsilon$ .

By Ehresmann's theorem (see vI, prop. 9.3), there exists a trivialisation

$$C = (C_0, f) : S_{[-\epsilon, \epsilon]} \cong S_{-\epsilon} \times [-\epsilon, \epsilon],$$

where  $C_0 : S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]} \to S_{-\epsilon}$  is a differentiable map which induces a diffeomorphism  $S_t \cong S_{-\epsilon}$  for every  $t \in [-\epsilon, \epsilon]$ .

In fact, it is easy to explicitly produce such a trivialisation. With notation as above, we take

$$C_0(x) = (\alpha(x)X_1, \beta(x)X_2),$$

where the positive functions  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  must satisfy the following conditions:

$$\alpha^2 f_1 + \beta^2 f_2 = 2\epsilon,$$
  
- $\alpha^2 f_1 + \beta^2 f_2 = -\epsilon.$  (1.2)

The conditions (1.2) simply state that  $C_0(x) \in S$  and  $f(C_0(x)) = -\epsilon$ . It is easy to see that the equations (1.2) have unique solutions in  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ .

Using the above trivialisation, we construct a retraction by deformation  $(K_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$  of  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$  onto  $S_{-\epsilon}$ , compatible with f. This means that  $K_t$  induces

the identity on  $S_{-\epsilon}$  for every t,  $K_1 = \text{Id}$ , and the image of  $K_0$  is contained in  $S_{-\epsilon}$ . (The compatibility condition also says that  $K_t(S_\alpha) \subset S_{K_t(\alpha)}$  for a certain retraction by deformation  $K'_t$  of the segment  $[-\epsilon, \epsilon]$  onto the point  $\epsilon$ .) We simply set

$$K_t = C^{-1} \circ (C_0, (1-t)(-\epsilon) + tf).$$

In other words, in the trivialisation *C*,  $K_t$  is induced by the affine retraction  $K'_t$  of the segment  $[-\epsilon, \epsilon]$  onto the point  $-\epsilon : K'_t(u) = (1-t)(-\epsilon) + tu$ . Note that  $K_t$  is of the form

$$K_t(x) = (\alpha_t(x)X_1, \beta_t(x)X_2),$$
(1.3)

where the positive functions  $\alpha_t$ ,  $\beta_t$  for  $t \in [0, 1]$  are determined by the conditions

$$\alpha_t^2 f_1 + \beta_t^2 f_2 = 2\epsilon,$$
  
- $\alpha_t^2 f_1 + \beta_t^2 f_2 = (1-t)(-\epsilon) + tf.$ 

*Proof of proposition 1.12* We construct the homotopy  $H_t$  by setting  $H_t = R_t$  in the ball  $B^{\eta}$  of radius  $\sqrt{\epsilon}$ , and  $H_t = K_t$  on  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ . We then look for  $H_t$  of the form

$$H_t(x) = (\alpha'_t(x)X_1, \beta'_t(x)X_2)$$

in  $B_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ , where the functions  $\alpha'_t$ ,  $\beta'_t$  now satisfy the conditions

$$\alpha_t^{\prime 2} f_1 + \beta_t^{\prime 2} f_2 \le 2\epsilon, \quad -\epsilon \le -\alpha_t^{\prime 2} f_1 + \beta_t^{\prime 2} f_2 \le (-f_1 + f_2), \tag{1.4}$$

i.e.  $H_t(x) \in B$ ,  $f(H_t(x)) \leq f(x)$ , and must coincide with  $\alpha_t$ ,  $\beta_t$  of (1.3) on  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$  and with 1, *t* in  $B_{\leq\epsilon}^{\eta}$ . We set  $H_t = \text{Id in } B_{\leq -\epsilon}$ .

It is easy to check that we can construct such a pair  $(\alpha'_t, \beta'_t)$ , which also satisfies the conditions

$$\operatorname{Im} H_0 \subset B_{<-\epsilon} \cup B_{\epsilon}^r$$

and

$$H_{t|B_{-\epsilon}\cup_{c^{r-1}}B_{\epsilon}^r}=\mathrm{Id},$$

already satisfied in  $B^{\eta}$  and  $S_{[-\epsilon,\epsilon]}$ .

#### 1.1.3 Globalisation

Now let *X* be a differentiable variety, and  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  a differentiable exhaustion function. Let  $\lambda$  be a critical value, and let  $\epsilon > 0$  be such that  $\lambda$  is the only critical value of *f* in  $[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]$ . Let  $0_i$ , i = 1, ..., r be the critical points of *f* on  $X_{\lambda}$ , and let  $r_i$  be their Morse indices. The local analysis above, together with proposition 1.8, allows us to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.15** There exists a retraction by deformation of the level set  $X_{\leq\lambda+\epsilon}$ onto the union of  $X_{\leq\lambda-\epsilon}$  with  $r_i$ -dimensional balls  $B^{r_i}$  glued on  $X_{\leq\lambda-\epsilon}$  along their boundaries, which are disjoint  $(r_i - 1)$ -dimensional spheres  $S^{r_i-1}$ .

**Proof** As f is a fibration over  $[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda[$  and  $]\lambda, \lambda + \epsilon]$ , Ehresmann's theorem shows that it suffices to prove the theorem for very small  $\epsilon$ . Morse's lemma then shows that in the neighbourhood of each  $0_i$ , there exists a ball  $B_i$  in which f can be written as in the preceding subsection with  $r = r_i$ . We may of course assume that these balls are disjoint. By the preceding subsection, in each of these balls  $B^i$ , we now have a retraction by deformation  $H_i^i$  of  $B_{\leq \lambda+\epsilon}^i$  onto  $B_{\leq \lambda-\epsilon}^i \cup_{S_{\epsilon}^{r_i-1}} B_{\epsilon}^{r_i}$ , which has the property of being induced by a trivialisation of the fibration f in the neighbourhood of  $S_{[\lambda-\epsilon,\lambda+\epsilon]}^i$ , where  $S^i = \partial B^i$ , and by the affine retraction of the segment  $[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]$  onto the point  $\lambda - \epsilon$ . But since over the segment  $[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]$ , the restriction of f to  $X - \bigcup_i B_0^i$  is a fibration of manifolds with boundary (where  $B_0^i$  denotes the interior of  $B^i$ ), the trivialisations of the fibration f in the neighbourhood of  $S_{[\lambda-\epsilon,\lambda+\epsilon]}^i$  extend to a trivialisation of the fibration f on  $X - \bigcup_i B_0^i$  over  $[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]$ :

$$C = (C_0, f) : \left( X - \bigcup_i B_0^i \right)_{[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]} \cong \left( X - \bigcup_i B_0^i \right)_{\lambda - \epsilon} \times [\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon].$$

The  $(H_t^i)_{|S^i} = K_t^i$  then extend to a retraction by deformation of  $(X - \bigcup_i B_0^i)_{[\lambda - \epsilon, \lambda + \epsilon]}$  onto  $(X - \bigcup_i B_0^i)_{\lambda - \epsilon}$ , given in the trivialisation above by

$$H_t(x) = (C_0(x), K'_t(f(x))).$$

Clearly,  $H_t$  can be glued together with the  $H_t^i$  in  $B^i$  and with Id in  $X_{\leq \lambda - \epsilon}$ , which yields the desired retraction by deformation.

# **1.2** Application to affine varieties

#### 1.2.1 Index of the square of the distance function

**Definition 1.16** A (smooth) affine variety is a (smooth) closed analytic subvariety of  $\mathbb{C}^N$  for some integer N.

Let *X* be such a smooth, connected variety and let *n* denote its complex dimension. If *h* is a Hermitian metric on  $\mathbb{C}^N$  and  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^N$ , we obtain a  $\mathcal{C}^\infty$  function  $f_0: X \to \mathbb{R}$  by setting  $f_0(x) = h(\overrightarrow{0x})$ .

More generally, we can define such a 'square of the distance' function for any differentiable subvariety X of a Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . First consider the general situation. Obviously, f is always an exhaustion function.

**Lemma 1.17** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  be a differentiable subvariety. Then for a general point 0 of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , the corresponding function  $f_0$  is a Morse function.

*Proof* We have  $df_{0,x}(u) = 2\langle \overrightarrow{0x}, u \rangle$  for  $u \in T_{X,x}$ . Thus, x is a critical point of f when  $\overrightarrow{0x}$  is orthogonal to  $T_{X,x}$ . Let  $Z \subset X \times \mathbb{R}^N$  be the set

$$Z = \{ (x, 0) \in X \times \mathbb{R}^N \mid \overrightarrow{0x} \perp T_{X,x} \}.$$

Clearly, we have dim Z = N. The second projection  $\pi : Z \to \mathbb{R}^N$  is thus submersive at a point if and only if it is immersive at that point.

**Lemma 1.18** Let  $(x, 0) \in Z$ , and let  $u \in T_{X,x}$ . Then the tangent vector  $(u, 0) \in T_{X,x} \times T_{\mathbb{R}^N,0}$  lies in  $T_{Z,(x,0)}$  if and only if  $u \in T_{X,x}$  lies in the kernel of the quadratic form  $\operatorname{Hess}_x f_0$ .

Admitting this lemma, we see that the set of points 0 for which the function  $f_0$  admits a degenerate critical point is the image under  $\pi$  of the set of points of Z where  $\pi$  is not an immersion, so not a submersion. By Sard's lemma (see Rudin 1966), this set has empty interior.

*Proof of lemma 1.18* The subset Z is defined in  $X \times \mathbb{R}^N$  as the vanishing locus of the section  $\sigma$  of the vector bundle  $\mathrm{pr}_1^*\Omega_X$  given by

$$\sigma_{(x,0)} = \langle \overrightarrow{0x}, \cdot \rangle = df_{0,x}.$$

Taking local coordinates  $x_i$  on X,  $\sigma$  can be written

$$\sum_{i} \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial x_i} dx_i.$$

The tangent space to Z at (x, 0) is thus described by

$$T_{Z,(x,0)} = \left\{ (u,w) \in T_{X,x} \times T_{\mathbb{R}^N,0} \left| d_u \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial x_i} + d_w \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial x_i} = 0, \ \forall i \right\} \right\}.$$

Writing  $u = \sum_{i} u_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ , the first term is equal to  $\sum_{j} u_j \frac{\partial^2 f_0}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$ . Thus, the vector (u, 0) lies in  $T_{Z,(x,0)}$  if and only if we have  $\sum_{j} u_j \frac{\partial^2 f_0}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} = 0$  for every *i*, which means by definition that *u* lies in the kernel of Hess<sub>x</sub>  $f_0$ .

Let us now return to the case where *X* is an *n*-dimensional complex analytic subvariety of  $\mathbb{C}^N$ , and the metric is Hermitian.

**Proposition 1.19** The index of the function  $f = f_0$  is less than or equal to n at every critical point of f.

*Proof* Let us introduce the second fundamental form

$$\Phi: S^2 T_{X,x} \to \mathbb{C}^N / T_{X,x},$$

which can be defined as the differential of the Gauss map

$$X \to \operatorname{Grass}(n, N), x \mapsto T_{X,x}.$$

By definition,  $\Phi(u, v)$  can be computed as follows. Let *V* be a vector field on *X* defined in the neighbourhood of *x*, and whose value at *x* is *v*. Then, as  $T_X \subset (T_{\mathbb{C}^N})_{|X}$ , we can see *V* as a map with values in  $\mathbb{C}^N$ , and set

$$\Phi(u, v) = d_u V \bmod T_{X,x}.$$

One knows that this depends only on the vector v and not on the vector field V; see vI, lemma 10.7.

Let *h* be the Hermitian form, and  $Q = \Re h = \langle , \rangle$  the corresponding Euclidean scalar product. The formula

$$df_x(u) = 2\langle \overrightarrow{0x}, u \rangle, \quad u \in T_{X,x}$$

shows immediately by differentiation that for a critical point x of f, we have

$$\operatorname{Hess}_{x} f(u, v) = 2(\langle \overrightarrow{0x}, \Phi(u, v) \rangle + \langle u, v \rangle).$$

To diagonalise  $\operatorname{Hess}_{x} f$ , it thus suffices to diagonalise the quadratic form

$$Q(u, v) = \langle \overrightarrow{0x}, \Phi(u, v) \rangle$$

in an orthonormal basis for  $\langle , \rangle$ . But since *X* is a complex subvariety of  $\mathbb{C}^N$ , the second fundamental form  $\Phi$  is  $\mathbb{C}$ -bilinear for the complex structures on  $T_{X,x}$  and  $\mathbb{C}^N/T_{X,x}$ , so that *Q* is the real part of the  $\mathbb{C}$ -bilinear symmetric form  $H(u, v) = h(\Phi(u, v), \overrightarrow{0x})$  on  $T_{X,x} \cong \mathbb{C}^n \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ .

**Lemma 1.20** Let H be a  $\mathbb{C}$ -bilinear symmetric form on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and let  $\langle , \rangle = \Re h$  be the Euclidean product associated to a Hermitian form on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Then the eigenvalues of the form  $Q = \Re H$  with respect to the Euclidean form constitute a set which is stable under the involution  $\lambda \mapsto -\lambda$  (including multiplicities).

Admitting this lemma, we conclude that the eigenvalues of  $\text{Hess}_x f$  with respect to the Euclidean metric are of the form  $2(1+\lambda_i)$ ,  $2(1-\lambda_i)$ , i = 1, ..., n. Thus, at most *n* of these eigenvalues are negative.

*Proof of lemma 1.20* The form H, and thus also the form  $Q = \Re H$ , are multiplied by -1 under the automorphism of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  induced by multiplication by i (which is unitary). Thus, the set of eigenvalues is stable under multiplication by -1. The statement concerning the multiplicities follows easily, since every form  $Q = \Re H$  is a specialisation of a form of the type  $\Re H$  with distinct eigenvalues.

**Definition 1.21** A compact CW-complex is a topological space which can be written as a finite union of closed 'cells' homeomorphic to closed balls of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ . The largest integer k appearing in this cellular decomposition is called the dimension of the CW-complex.

We define a CW-complex as a topological space which is the countable union of increasing open sets  $U_i$  such that the closure  $\overline{U}_i$  is a compact CW-complex. The following result is a consequence of theorem 1.15 and proposition 1.19 (see Andreotti & Frankel 1959; Milnor 1963).

**Theorem 1.22** An affine variety X of complex dimension n has the homotopy type of a CW-complex of real dimension  $\leq n$ .

*Proof* Let  $X \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ , and take a Morse function on X of the form  $h_0(x) = d(x, 0)^2$ , for a Hermitian metric on  $\mathbb{C}^N$ . Then X can be written as the countable

union of the interiors  $X_k^0$  of the level sets  $X_k = \{x \in X \mid h_0(x) \le k\}$ , and assuming that the integers *k* are not critical values, theorem 1.15 and proposition 1.19 show that each level set  $X_{k+1}$  has the homotopy type of the union of  $X_k$  with a finite number of balls of dimension  $\le k$ .

# 1.2.2 Lefschetz theorem on hyperplane sections

Let *X* be a smooth complex projective variety, and  $Y \stackrel{j}{\hookrightarrow} X$  a smooth hyperplane section. The cohomology class  $[Y] \in H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$  is equal to  $h := c_1(\mathcal{O}_X(1))$  (see vI, Thm 11.33). Let us first show that we have the identity

$$j^* \circ j_* = h_Y \cup : H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{k+2}(Y, \mathbb{Z}), \tag{1.5}$$

where  $h_Y := h_{|Y} = [Y]_{|Y}$ .

This formula follows immediately from the description of the Gysin morphism  $j_*$  as the composition  $k_* \circ (\cup \eta_Y) \circ \pi^*$ , where

$$\begin{array}{c} T \xrightarrow{\pi} Y \\ k \\ k \\ X \end{array}$$

is an open tubular neighbourhood of *Y* in *X*, and  $\eta_Y \in H^2_c(T, \mathbb{Z})$  is the cohomology class with compact support of *Y* in *T*. Indeed, forgetting the torsion we know that the Gysin morphism  $j_* : H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{k+2}(X, \mathbb{Z})$  is the Poincaré dual of the restriction morphism

$$j^*: H^{2n-k-2}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^{2n-k-2}(Y,\mathbb{Z})$$

Passing to real coefficients, we must check that for a closed *k*-form  $\beta$  on *Y* and a closed (2n - k - 2)-form  $\alpha$  on *X*, we have

$$\int_Y \beta \wedge j^* \alpha = \int_X \tilde{\eta}_Y \wedge \pi^* \beta \wedge \alpha.$$

Here, the form  $\tilde{\eta}_Y$  is a de Rham representative of  $\eta_Y$ : it is a closed 2-form with support in *T* such that  $\pi_*\tilde{\eta}_Y = 1_Y$  (see vI.11.1.2). The form  $\tilde{\eta}_Y \wedge \pi^*\beta$  on *T* is extended to *X* by 0, and thus the right-hand term is equal to  $\int_T \tilde{\eta}_Y \wedge \pi^*\beta \wedge \alpha$ . Now, as *T* can be retracted by deformation onto *Y* by  $\pi$ , there exists a closed (2n - k - 2)-form  $\alpha'$  on *Y* and a (2n - k - 3)-form  $\alpha''$  on *T* such that

$$\alpha_{|T} = \pi^* \alpha' + d\alpha''.$$

But then, applying Stokes and the fact that  $\pi_* \tilde{\eta}_Y = 1_Y$ , we find

$$\int_{T} \tilde{\eta}_{Y} \wedge \pi^{*} \beta \wedge \alpha = \int_{T} \tilde{\eta}_{Y} \wedge \pi^{*} \beta \wedge \pi^{*} \alpha'$$
$$= \int_{Y} \beta \wedge \alpha' = \int_{Y} \beta \wedge j^{*} \alpha,$$

which proves the equality  $j_* = k_* \circ (\cup \eta_Y) \circ \pi^*$ .

As  $h_Y$  is a Kähler class, we can now apply the hard Lefschetz theorem (vI, Thm 6.25) to conclude that:

The cup-product

$$\cup h_Y : H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{k+2}(Y, \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for  $k < n - 1 := \dim Y$  and surjective for  $k + 2 > n - 1 = \dim Y$ .

As  $\cup h_Y = j^* \circ j_*$ , it follows that

$$j_*: H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{k+2}(X, \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for k < n - 1 and

$$j^*: H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q})$$

is surjective for k > n - 1.

Moreover, we also have the equality

$$j_* \circ j^* = [Y] \cup = h \cup : H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{k+2}(X, \mathbb{Z}), \tag{1.6}$$

which can be proved by the same argument as above.

Applying the Lefschetz theorem cited above to *X*, we conclude that  $h \cup = j^* \circ j_*$  is injective on  $H^k(X, \mathbb{Q})$  for  $k < n = \dim X$ , which implies that

$$j^*: H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for  $k < n = \dim X$ .

We will now use the topological analysis developed in the preceding section to obtain a much stronger statement, namely the Lefschetz theorem on hyperplane sections.

**Theorem 1.23** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{P}^N$  be a (not necessarily smooth) *n*-dimensional algebraic subvariety, and let  $Y = \mathbb{P}^{N-1} \cap X$  be a hyperplane section such that

U := X - Y is smooth and n-dimensional. Then the restriction morphism

$$j^*: H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z})$$

is an isomorphism for k < n - 1 and is injective for k = n - 1.

*Proof* Let us admit the fact, which is proved using triangulations, that Y admits a fundamental system of neighbourhoods  $Y_i$  in X which can be retracted by deformation onto Y. It follows that

$$H^{k}(X, Y, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \lim H^{k}(X, Y_{i}, \mathbb{Z}).$$
(1.7)

By excision, we also obtain isomorphisms

$$H^k(X, Y_i, \mathbb{Z}) \cong H^k(U, Y_i \cap U, \mathbb{Z}).$$

But since U is an oriented differentiable 2n-dimensional variety, Poincaré duality gives an isomorphism (which is canonical, depending only on the orientation)

$$H^{k}(U, U - K, \mathbb{Z}) \cong H_{2n-k}(K, \mathbb{Z})$$
(1.8)

for every compact set  $K \subset U$  having the property that K is the retraction by deformation of an open set of U (see Spanier 1996, 6.2).

If we now apply the Poincaré duality (1.8) to  $K_i := U - Y_i \cap U$ , we obtain an isomorphism

$$H^k(X, Y, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \lim H^k(U, Y_i \cap U, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \lim H_{2n-k}(K_i, \mathbb{Z}).$$

Since every singular chain is contained in one of the compact sets  $K_i \subset U$ , it is clear that we have

$$H_{2n-k}(U,\mathbb{Z}) = \lim H_{2n-k}(K_i,\mathbb{Z})$$

In conclusion, we have a natural isomorphism

$$H^{k}(X, Y, \mathbb{Z}) \cong H_{2n-k}(U, \mathbb{Z}).$$
(1.9)

Returning to our proof, we consider the long exact sequence of relative cohomology of the pair (X, Y):

$$\cdots \to H^k(X, Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{k+1}(X, Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to \cdots$$

It follows that theorem 1.23 is equivalent to the vanishing of the groups  $H^k(X, Y, \mathbb{Z})$  for  $k \le n - 1 = \dim Y$ . Applying the isomorphism (1.9), this is equivalent to the vanishing of the groups  $H_k(U, \mathbb{Z})$  for  $k \ge n + 1$ .

Now, U is an affine variety embedded in  $\mathbb{C}^N$ . Let us equip  $\mathbb{C}^N$  with a Hermitian metric, and let  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^N$  be such that the function  $f_0$  is a Morse function on U. U can be written as the union of the increasing level sets  $U_{\leq M}$ ,  $M \in \mathbb{Z}$ , with  $U_{\leq -1} = \emptyset$ . It follows immediately that

$$H_k(U,\mathbb{Z}) = \lim_{M\to\infty} H_k(U_{\leq M},\mathbb{Z}),$$

and it suffices to show that for every level set  $U_{\leq M}$ , we have

$$H_k(U_{\leq M},\mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 for  $k > n$ .

But this follows immediately, by induction on M, from theorem 1.15 and proposition 1.19. Indeed, assuming for simplicity that M and M + 1 are not critical values of  $f_0$ , there exists a finite number of critical values  $\lambda_i$  of the function  $f_0$  contained between M and M + 1, i.e.

$$M < \lambda_1 < \cdots < \lambda_i < \cdots \lambda_k < M + 1.$$

For  $1 \le i \le k-1$ , let us choose  $\lambda'_i \in [\lambda_i, \lambda_{i+1}]$ , and set  $M = \lambda'_0, M+1 = \lambda'_k$ . Then by theorem 1.15, each level set  $U_{\le \lambda'_i}$  has the homotopy type of the union of  $U_{\le \lambda'_{i-1}}$  with balls  $B_{i,j}^{r_j}$  of dimension  $r_j$  equal to the index of the critical point  $x_{i,j}$  of critical value  $\lambda_i$ , glued along their boundary  $S_{i,j}^{r_j-1}$ . By proposition 1.19, all of these indices are at most equal to n. Thus, for each of these balls, we have

$$H_k(B, S, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 for  $k > n$ ,

which by excision implies that

$$H_k(U_{\leq M+1}, U_{\leq M}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 for  $k > n$ .

Thus, by the long exact sequence of relative homology of the pair  $(U_{M+1}, U_M)$ , if

$$H_k(U_{\leq M}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 for  $k > n$ ,

then also  $H_k(U_{\leq M+1}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$  for k > n. As  $U_{\leq -1} = \emptyset$ , we thus have

$$H_k(U_{\leq M}, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$$
 for  $k > n$ 

for every M. This proves theorem 1.23.

#### 1.2.3 Applications

Recall (see vI.7.2.1) that the cohomology of the projective space  $\mathbb{P}^n$  is described by  $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$  for odd *i* and  $H^{2i}(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}h^i$ , where  $h = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(1)) \in$  $H^2(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{Z})$ .

Moreover, using the dth Veronese embedding

$$\Phi_d: \mathbb{P}^n \to \mathbb{P}^N,$$

which is given by homogeneous polynomials of degree d, and which is such that the pullback by  $\Phi_d$  of a linear form on  $\mathbb{P}^N$  is a polynomial of degree d on  $\mathbb{P}^n$ , we can consider a hypersurface  $X \subset \mathbb{P}^n$  of degree d as an intersection  $\Phi_d(\mathbb{P}^n) \cap \mathbb{P}^{N-1}$ . Thus, the following result for hypersurfaces of projective space follows from theorem 1.23.

**Corollary 1.24** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{P}^n$  be a hypersurface. Then  $H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$  for k odd,  $k < \dim X$ , and  $H^{2k}(X, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}h^k$  for  $2k < \dim X$ .

If moreover X is smooth, then the next result follows from Poincaré duality.

**Corollary 1.25** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{P}^n$  be a smooth hypersurface. Then  $H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ for k odd,  $k > \dim X$ , and  $H^{2k}(X, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}\alpha$  for  $2k > \dim X$ , where the class  $\alpha$  has intersection with  $h^{n-1-k}$  equal to 1.

**Remark 1.26** Let us take the case of a smooth hypersurface X in  $\mathbb{P}^4$ . The preceding corollary shows that  $H_2(X, \mathbb{Z}) = H^4(X, \mathbb{Z})$  is generated by the unique class  $\alpha$  such that  $\langle \alpha, h \rangle = 1$ . If X contains a line, the homology class of this line is thus equal to  $\alpha$ . In general, if  $d := \deg X > 5$ , then X does not contain a line (at least if the equation of X is chosen generically). However, a curve  $C = X \cap \mathbb{P}^2$  is of degree d and is thus of class  $d\alpha$ . Kollár (1990) showed that in general, for sufficiently large d, the class  $\alpha$  is not the class of an algebraic cycle, although  $d\alpha$  is. This is one of the counterexamples to the Hodge conjecture for integral cohomology.

Corollaries 1.24 and 1.25 can be generalised immediately to complete intersections in projective space, by repeated applications of theorem 1.23.

A first application of corollary 1.24 concerns the computation of the Picard group of complete intersections. Recall (see vI.4.3, vI.11.3) that if *X* is a projective variety, then Pic *X* is the group of isomorphism classes of algebraic line bundles, or equivalently, of isomorphism classes of holomorphic line bundles, or in the smooth case, of divisors modulo rational equivalence. The second interpretation gives an identification (see vI.4.3) Pic  $X \cong H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_{X,an}^*)$ , and the exponential exact sequence gives the long exact sequence

$$H^1(X,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(X,\mathcal{O}_X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X) \xrightarrow{\iota_1} H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}).$$

If *X* is now a smooth complete intersection in  $\mathbb{P}^n$  such that dim  $X \ge 3$ , then by

corollary 1.24, we have  $H^1(X, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ , so  $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$  by Hodge theory, which shows that  $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is a quotient of  $H^1(X, \mathbb{C})$ . Moreover, we have an isomorphism

Pic 
$$\mathbb{P}^n \stackrel{c_1}{\cong} H^2(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}h$$
,

and corollary 1.24 gives a restriction isomorphism  $H^2(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathbb{Z}) \cong H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ . The next corollary follows immediately.

**Corollary 1.27** If X is a smooth complete intersection of dimension  $\geq 3$  in  $\mathbb{P}^n$ , then Pic  $X = \mathbb{ZO}_X(1)$ .

In fact, using the arguments of the following section, we can show that under the hypothesis dim  $X \ge 2$ , the vanishing property  $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$  holds even when X is not smooth, so that also corollary 1.27 holds even when X is not smooth.

# 1.3 Vanishing theorems and Lefschetz' theorem

As observed by Kodaira and Spencer (see Shiffman & Sommese 1985), it is possible to give a more 'algebraic' proof of the Lefschetz theorem 1.23, at least for cohomology with rational coefficients.

For this, we use the following vanishing theorem due to Akizuki, Kodaira, and Nakano (see Demailly 1996; Griffiths & Harris 1978). Let X be a complex variety, and let L be a holomorphic line bundle on X. Recall that L is said to be positive if L can be equipped with a Hermitian metric whose associated Chern form is positive (i.e. is a Kähler form). By the Kodaira embedding theorem (see vI.7.1.3), this is equivalent to the fact that L is ample, i.e. that the holomorphic sections of  $L^{\otimes N}$  for sufficiently large N give an embedding

$$\Phi_{NL}: X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^r$$

**Theorem 1.28** Let  $L \to X$  be a positive line bundle, where X is compact. Then for  $p + q > n := \dim X$ , we have

$$H^q(X,\,\Omega^p_X(L))=0.$$

Applying Serre duality (see vI.5.3.2) and noting that by the exterior product,

$$(\Omega_X^p)^* \otimes K_X \cong \Omega_X^{n-p},$$

we also obtain the following equivalent statement: *under the same hypotheses, we have* 

$$H^q(X, \Omega_X^p(-L)) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad p+q < n.$$

Here, the notation  $\mathcal{F}(-L)$  means  $\mathcal{F} \otimes (L^{-1})$ , where  $\mathcal{F}$  denotes a coherent sheaf on *X*.

This theorem yields the following version of the Lefschetz theorem.

**Theorem 1.29** Let X be an n-dimensional compact complex variety, and let  $Y \xrightarrow{j} X$  be a smooth hypersurface such that the line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_X(Y) = (\mathcal{I}_Y)^*$  is positive. Then for k < n - 1, the restriction

$$j^*: H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q})$$

is an isomorphism, and for k = n - 1, it is injective.

**Remark 1.30** This statement is weaker than theorem 1.23. Indeed, note that by definition Y is the zero locus of a section  $\sigma_Y$  of  $\mathcal{O}_X(Y)$ , so NY is the divisor of the section  $\sigma_Y^N$  of  $\mathcal{O}_X(NY)$ . Under the preceding hypotheses, there exists an embedding  $\Phi_{NY}$  of X into  $\mathbb{P}^r$  such that the pullback of the linear forms gives exactly the sections of  $\mathcal{O}_X(NY)$ . Thus, under the embedding  $\Phi_{NY}$ ,  $Y \subset X$  is the set-theoretic intersection of X with a hyperplane in  $\mathbb{P}^r$ . Thus, theorem 1.23 implies theorem 1.29. But the latter is strictly weaker, insofar as it deals only with rational cohomology and smooth hypersurfaces.

*Proof of theorem 1.29* By the change of coefficients theorem, we have  $H^k(X, \mathbb{C}) = H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C}$ , and a similar statement for *Y*; thus it suffices to prove this theorem for the cohomology with complex coefficients instead of the rational cohomology. Now, under the hypotheses of the theorem, *X* and *Y* are Kähler (and even projective), and thus, from the Hodge decomposition for *X* and *Y* (see vI.6.1), we have

$$H^{k}(X, \mathbb{C}) = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H^{q}(X, \Omega_{X}^{p})$$

and

$$H^{k}(Y,\mathbb{C}) = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H^{q}(Y,\Omega_{Y}^{p})$$

with  $j^* = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} j_{p,q}^*$ , where  $j_{p,q}^* : H^q(X, \Omega_X^p) \to H^q(Y, \Omega_Y^p)$  is the restriction morphism induced by the morphism

$$j_p^*: \Omega_X^p \to j_*\Omega_Y^p$$

of coherent sheaves. Thus, it suffices to show that  $j_{p,q}^*$  is an isomorphism for  $p + q < \dim Y$  and is injective for  $p + q = \dim Y$ . Now, the morphism  $j_p^*$  is the composition of the natural morphisms

$$\Omega_X^p \to \Omega_X^p \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y = j_* \big( \Omega_X^p \big|_Y \big) \tag{1.10}$$

and

$$\Omega^p_X \Big|_Y \to \Omega^p_Y \tag{1.11}$$

(the latter should in fact be composed with  $j_*$ , which induces an isomorphism in cohomology, and is thus usually omitted). It thus suffices to show that each of the morphisms (1.10) and (1.11) induces an isomorphism on the cohomology of degree q for  $p + q < n - 1 = \dim Y$ , and an injection for p + q = n - 1.

For this, we apply theorem 1.28 to X and to Y. Let us first consider the case of (1.10). We have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Omega_X^p(-Y) \to \Omega_X^p \to \Omega_X^p \Big|_Y \to 0.$$

The associated long exact sequence and the vanishing property  $H^q(X, \Omega_X^p(-Y)) = 0$  for  $p + q < \dim X$  immediately imply that the arrow

$$H^q(X, \Omega^p_X) \to H^q(Y, \Omega^p_X|_Y)$$

induced by (1.10) is an isomorphism for  $p + q < \dim Y = \dim X - 1$  and is injective for  $p + q = \dim Y$ .

Moreover, we have the conormal exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_Y(-Y) \to \Omega_X |_Y \to \Omega_Y \to 0$$

on *Y* (see vI.3.3.3), where the identification of  $\mathcal{O}_Y(-Y) = \mathcal{I}_Y \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y$  with the conormal bundle  $N_{Y/X}^*$  is induced by the differential  $d : \mathcal{I}_Y \to \Omega_X$ . Passing to the *p*th exterior power, this exact sequence induces the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Omega_Y^{p-1}(-Y) \to \Omega_X^p \Big|_Y \to \Omega_Y^p \to 0.$$

The associated long exact sequence of cohomology and theorem 1.28 applied to *Y* thus show that the morphism

$$H^q(Y, \Omega^p_X|_Y) \to H^q(Y, \Omega^p_Y)$$

induced by (1.11) is an isomorphism for  $p + q < \dim Y$ , and is injective for  $p + q = \dim Y$ .

# **Exercises**

- 1. *Morse theory and the Euler–Poincaré characteristic.* Let  $X_1 \subset X$  be varieties with compact boundaries.
  - (a) Using the long exact sequence of relative cohomology, show that

$$\chi_{\rm top}(X) = \chi_{\rm top}(X_1) + \chi_{\rm top}(X, X_1),$$

where  $\chi_{top}(X) := \sum_{i} (-1)^{i} b_{i}(X)$  and  $\chi_{top}(X, X_{1}) := \sum_{i} (-1)^{i} \dim H^{i}(X, X_{1}).$ 

Now let *X* be a compact differentiable variety, and let  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Morse function.

(b) Let x ∈ X be a critical point of f of index i. Show that for ε > 0, the level sets X<sub>≤f(x)±ε</sub> satisfy

$$\chi_{\mathrm{top}}(X_{\leq f(x)+\epsilon}) = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(X_{\leq f(x)-\epsilon}) + (-1)^{i}.$$

(c) Deduce the formula

$$\chi_{\rm top}(X) = \sum_i (-1)^i N_i,$$

where  $N_i$  is the number of critical points of index *i*.

Subvarieties with ample normal bundle and Lefschetz theorems. Let X be an n-dimensional smooth projective variety and E a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. We say that E is ample if the invertible bundle O<sub>P(E\*)</sub>(1) is ample on the projective bundle P(E\*) → X. Thus, h := c<sub>1</sub>(O<sub>P(E\*)</sub>(1)) is a Kähler class on P(E\*). Recall (see vI.11.2) that the Chern classes c<sub>i</sub>(E\*) are characterised by the relation

$$h^r + \sum_{0 < i \le r} \pi^* c_i(E^*) h^{r-i} = 0$$
 in  $H^{2r}(\mathbb{P}(E^*), \mathbb{Z}).$ 

(a) Deduce from the hard Lefschetz theorem applied to  $\mathbb{P}(E^*)$  that if *E* is ample, then the map

$$\cup h: H^{k+r-2}(\mathbb{P}(E^*), \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{k+r}(\mathbb{P}(E^*), \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for  $k \leq n$ .

(b) Under the same hypothesis, deduce from the decomposition of H<sup>\*</sup>(ℙ(E<sup>\*</sup>), ℚ) (see vI.7.3.3) that the map

$$\cup c_r(E) : H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{k+2r}(X, \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for  $k \leq n - r$ .

(c) Show that the conclusion of (b) still holds if  $E^*$  is assumed to be ample.

Let X be an (n + r)-dimensional complex variety, and let  $Y \xrightarrow{j} X$  be an *n*-dimensional compact complex subvariety of X.

(d) Show that the map

$$j^* \circ j_* : H^k(Y, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{k+2r}(Y, \mathbb{Z})$$

is equal to  $\cup c_r(N_{Y/X})$  (see vI.1.2.2, and vI, chapter 11, exercise 3). Deduce that if the normal bundle  $N_{Y/X}$  or its dual is ample, then the map

$$j_*: H^k(Y, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{k+2r}(X, \mathbb{Q})$$

is injective for  $k \le n - r$ .